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Location: The Avalanche Duplex Ranger Station is located in Glacier National
Park, Flathead County, Montana, near the confluence of McDonald
Creek and Avalanche Creek at the entrance to the Avalanche
Campground on the Going-to-the-Sun Road.

Quad: Mount Cannon
UTM: 12/292517/5395598 NAD 83
Date of

Construction: 1966
Present Owner National Park Service, Glacier National Park
Present Use: Vacant

Significance: The Avalanche Duplex Ranger Station is eligible for listing in the
National Register of Historic Places as a building that contributes to the significance of
the Avalanche Campground Historic District. The District was determined eligible for
National Register listing under Criteria A and C on February 9, 2011. The Avalanche
Campground Historic District and its many historic resources represent significant
priorities and design directives established by the National Park Service through the
twentieth century. The Campground holds close associations with the two major
infrastructure development periods of Glacier National Park -- the early development of
the Going-to-the-Sun Road and Rustic architectural and landscape design of the 1920s
through the 1930s, often referred to as the “Rustic” design era; and the Mission 66 era
from 1953 through 1966, reflecting increased visitation and the rise of automobile
transportation and car camping through the twentieth century and the corresponding
National Park Service Mission 66 initiative to meet those needs. The Avalanche Duplex
Ranger Station is an important contributing resource representing that latter period of
development.

The Avalanche Duplex Ranger Station retains an extremely high degree of integrity and
displays numerous architectural features associated with Mission 66 architecture. These
include the modern materials, tall, fixed windows, welcoming porch canopy, and
streamlined roofline, which combine an unassuming profile in harmony with the natural
setting.

Historians: Jim Jenks, Christine Brown, Kate Hampton, Chere Jiusto
Montana Preservation Alliance
120 Reeder’s Alley
Helena, Montana 59610
September 2010 and September 2011
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PART 1. HISTORICAL INFORMATION'

The Avalanche Duplex Ranger Station is located in Glacier National Park at the entrance
to the Avalanche Campground, on the east side of Going-to-the-Sun Road approximately
15 miles northeast of the park entrance at West Glacier. A two-lane road runs east from
Going-to-the-Sun Road to the campground. Just narrow inside the campground entrance
and to the south of the access road stands the 1966 Avalanche Duplex Ranger Station.

Avalanche Campground lies near the confluence of Avalanche and McDonald creeks, and
from here, a two mile trail along Avalanche Creek winds through a spectacular deep,
narrow gorge to Avalanche Lake, two miles east of the campground. The area is lush and
heavily forested with western hemlock, western red cedars, black cottonwood, and
Douglas fir, which form a dense canopy and shady oasis for campers replete with
wildflowers and occasional wildlife.

AVALANCHE DUPLEX RANGER STATION HISTORY

Congress established Glacier National Park in 1910, and soon development began,
providing infrastructure and services that included transportation and accommodations
ranging from an upscale hotel to camping facilities that capitalized on the growing
popularity of wilderness recreation. Historian Jessie Ravage explains:

Camping holidays seized the nation’s imagination in the 1880s and 1890s
as people escaped to platform tents and cabins reminiscent of the nation’s
long settlement period. Some of the nation’s urbane businessmen went
hunting and fishing in the remote places. Writing for Forest and Stream in
the 1880s, William Wicks noted, “We migrate to the woods, hunt and fish
from choice; we go for change, recuperation, pleasure, health. We aim to
treasure upper energies in order to better sustain the tension of
civilization.”*

Recognizing both the conservation and recreation interests of the public, the park’s
enabling legislation delineated twin purposes for its administrators: protection of the
resources and increased access for the public. Melding these tasks into policy,
administrators called for more roads and trails, both for fire protection and ranger
patrols, and to improve visitor access to the park. While the Great Northern Railway (GN)
invested quite a bit into park access during the 1910s, it focused mainly on the east side
of the Divide, and transporting rail travelers to GN’s hotels and chalets. West of the
Divide, the beginnings of a trans-mountain road began in 1919, when John Lewis
completed a rough road along the east side of Lake McDonald, to provide automobile
access to his Glacier Hotel. A vision for a highway connecting the east and west sides to
accommodate the visiting public, and provide for management, began to take hold.
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Significance of Going-to-the-Sun Road?

The National Park Service began construction on Going-to-the-Sun Road in 1921, and in
1928 the western section of the road was completed to Logan Pass. In 1933 the road was
officially opened, although construction and improvements continued for two more
decades. By 1937, the principal bridges, tunnels, and other structures of the road were all
complete with final paving entirely finished in 1952.

When it was begun, Going-to-the-Sun Road was the most ambitious road construction
project ever undertaken by the Bureau of Public Roads and the National Park Service.
The extreme terrain and conditions, as well as the newness of the administrative
agreement between the two federal bureaus, made the road a laboratory of innovative
road engineering practices and policies. While building Going-to-the-Sun Road, the Park
Service and the Bureau of Public Roads developed the construction standards and the
cooperative administration that characterized future road construction not only in
national parks, but on other federal lands and after 1933 in state parks as well. In both
civil engineering and landscape architecture, the design and construction of Going-to-
the-Sun Road also indicated a need to reassess the professional capacities of the Park
Service.

Avalanche Campground up until Mid-Century

Through the first years of the park’s existence, officials learned where the tourists and in-
holders had heretofore explored and set up camps. Prime campsites, selected by guides
for their beauty, proximity to water, and appropriate landforms, were to become official
park picnic areas and campgrounds. And to attract more visitors, those sites had to
become accessible by car.

As early as 1911, Glacier Superintendent Major William R. Logan recognized the need for
an improved road system for the convenience of tourists,* and early superintendents
understood travelers’ interests to explore deeper and deeper within the Park
boundaries. While Hill’s Great Northern developed facilities on the east side of the park,
on the west side of the park, private developments included Lewis’ hotel, and camping
places for hunting and touring parties. Informal camps near Sprague Creek, and the
wooded area along Avalanche Creek, just north of Lake McDonald, became park-
administered facilities. According to Superintendent Logan:

Avalanche Basin, a remarkable U-shaped valley 8 miles from Lake
McDonald, is one of the most attractive and impressing features of the
park. Nestling in the valley below the basin lies Avalanche Lake, into which
dash cascades and cataracts that head in the melting snow and ice above
and leap thousands of feet to the lake beneath.

The park began to improve trails, including the Avalanche Creek Trail, which received
corduroy improvements in 1913. However, early trails and ranger stations were
rudimentary at best. In 1915, Superintendent Samuel F. Ralston advocated construction
of aroad from the foot to the head of Lake McDonald to “greatly increase the
automobile travel in the park, from which considerable revenue would be derived.”®
Five years after that, the first link in the Transcontinental Road was finally completed to
the head of the lake. Automobile traffic had increased more than tenfold over the
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previous decade and Acting Superintendent George Goodwin proclaimed in 1920 that
“camping trips... were more popular than ever before...”

The following year, administrators recommended that “hotels, campsites, and chalets
should be enlarged as they will no doubt be more congested next year... Permanent

camps should be established, similar to the camps now in Yellowstone and Yosemite.”’

The confluence of Avalanche Creek and McDonald Creek was a natural setting for a
campground and familiar to longtime visitors. Lined with cedar trees, Avalanche Creek’s
natural beauty, lush flora and fauna, and relatively flat creek bottom leading to
Avalanche Lake all contributed to its selection as an official campground.

In 1924, the Going-to-the-Sun Road reached that point, and the existing trail became
more heavily visited than ever. During the latter 1920s, “public campgrounds were used
to a greater extent than ever before in the history of the Park”® and Avalanche
Campground was officially cleared to accommodate overnight and day use, the
campground’s main roads were graveled and a water supply system, log fire cache
building and two comfort stations were installed.

During the 1930s, the park printed self-guided tours of the campground and the two-mile
trail up the creek to Avalanche Lake. National Park Service landscape and building design
teams thoughtfully planned these activities, with great attention to the natural space.
Roads and pullouts were designed “to bring order to camping activities in natural parks
and to preserve natural aspect without hobbling campers’ use and enjoyment of a
camping area.”? In addition, a move evolved toward more ordered, designed
campgrounds,'® and by the mid-1930s, Avalanche Campground featured two one-way
access loops to camping “spurs.””

Though the campground appeared organic, the Park Service carefully planned each
improvement to the space, from the roughly forty-five degree angles of the spurs to the
Rustic design of the comfort stations (1929), shower/laundry facility (1930), fire cache
(1928), camp tenders’ cabin (1936), and amphitheater. Park architecture in the first half
of the twentieth century emphasized rustic architecture and buildings made from native
materials that fit into the park’s natural surroundings, and which were intended to evoke
the nation’s frontier past. Albert Good defined “rustic architecture” as “a style which,
through the use of avoidance of severely straight lines and over-sophistication, gives the
feeling of having been executed by pioneer craftsmen with limited hand tools, it thus
achieves sympathy with natural surroundings and with the past.”" The buildings
reflected this ethic, with log posts, braces, beams and trusses, and low-slung, gabled
roofs covered with wood shingles, exposed purlins and rafter ends, vertical-plank
exterior walls, and wood-trimmed doors and windows.

Visitation to Glacier National Park, especially automobile traffic, increased substantially
through the 1930s. Between 1935 and 1941, visitation to the National Parks increased
more than 150%, putting a huge strain on park facilities, the newly completed Going-to-
the-Sun Road and its associated campgrounds. The road carried more than just
automobiles, as travel trailers increased in popularity through the decade. In 1936,
twenty-five of Avalanche Campground’s eighty campsites were enlarged for auto-and-
trailer campers.
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Architect Good explained in his 1938 Park and Recreation Structures that the short spur
design, like that at Avalanche Campground, was inadequate for trailer campers and
offered several design solutions. Glacier National Park officials began to redesign some
campsites but entry to World War Il in 1941 caused visitation and appropriations to drop
significantly, halting most proposed construction projects.”

A massive reduction of non-military budgets for federal agencies, including the National
Park Service during the World War Il years led to park closures across the nation. In
Glacier, appropriations were reduced to less than maintenance levels and many of the
structures within the park, both public and private, fell into disrepair. During this period
at Avalanche Campground, improvements were limited to moving a couple existing
buildings within the district: fire cache, Building 70, and a comfort station.

When World War Il ended, appropriations began to increase, but demands on park
infrastructure increased even more. Visitors were less likely to patronize privately owned
concessionaire facilities, and sought public accommodations. Administrators at Glacier
and other national parks expended increasing amounts of money to improve roadways
and facilities for automobile traffic. However, chronic understaffing and inadequate
budgets for large scale improvements continued through the 1940s and early 1950s, and
administrators and visitors alike became increasingly frustrated.

Mission 66: Avalanche Campground in a New Era

In 1956, the National Park Service entered a new era of funding and construction that,
for the first time in nearly a generation, gave the National Park Service the ability to meet
the demands of a modernizing America. Mission 66 was a National Park Service ten-year
program intended to dramatically expand national park visitor services by 1966, in time
for the 50th anniversary of the establishment of the NPS. The massive, ambitious plan
was launched by NPS Director Conrad L. Wirth.

Historian Sarah Allaback, in her comprehensive 2000 study Mission 66 Visitor Centers: The
History of a Building Type, wrote that Wirth visualized Mission 66 as a program that
“would allow the Park Service to repair and build roads, bridges, trails, hire additional
employees, construct new facilities ranging from campsites to administrative buildings,
improve employee housing, and obtain land for parks.”'* Mission 66 would “elevate the
parks to modern standards of comfort and efficiency, as well as an attempt to conserve
natural resources.” With staunch support from President Dwight D. Eisenhower,
Congress approved federal funding for the initiative which was made available for Fiscal
Year 1956.

In Glacier, planning and projects progressed in earnest in anticipation of Mission 66. The
parks’ “Mission 66 Prospectus,” dated June 23, 1956 outlined projects and budgets
throughout the park. Visitor centers at Logan Pass and St. Mary, additional residences
and a new administration building at the park headquarters, modernized comfort
stations and ranger facilities throughout the park were proposed and constructed
through the era. Campgrounds at Many Glacier, St. Mary, Rising Sun, Two Medicine,
Avalanche, and Fish Creek all received upgraded sanitary systems, redesigned and
improved roads and campsites and other amenities. At Avalanche, Mission-66 planning
and projects called for reconstituting the campground road, a new campground loop
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and picnic area, reconstituting the self-guided Trail of the Cedars, and extending the
Avalanche Lake Trail. Upgrades proposed also included a new administrative/caretakers
duplex, eight comfort stations, replacing the benches at the 1930s-era campfire circle,
and new picnic tables and fireplaces. The budget for these improvements at Avalanche
was projected to be $277,800.

These plans progressed and by 1959, the proposed changes were drawn as part of the
park’s master plan. The map shows Loop 1 (historic Loop A) of the campground
essentially intact, while Loop B would be obliterated and replaced by a loop designed to
better accommodate travel trailers. A third loop to the south is also shown, together
with the ranger station duplex at the entrance, and seven new comfort stations. Nearly
all the existing buildings were to be removed.

Work began in earnest in July 1960, when the E.F. Matelich Construction Company of
Kalispell, Montana began constructing seven new comfort stations at Avalanche
campground. Park Service architects provided the building plans to the contractor. In
keeping with Mission 66 philosophy, the plans made use of modern materials and
technology and provided an efficient blueprint for construction. Details included
aluminum windows and screens, pre-fabricated steel stalls, and Formica wall panels.

Between July 1961 and August 1962, contractor Kalispell Plumbing and Heating
transformed the southern portion of the 1930s-era campground by obliterating the loop
and sites, and constructing two new loops with a total of eighty-seven campsites. The
site design included a regular pattern of bypass lanes and campsites on either side of the
one-way access loops, and basically follows the plans described in Albert Good’s
forward-thinking planning guide, the 1938 Park and Recreation Structures as “Trailer
Campsite Unit H”. In this design, “an island separates the bypass parking lane serving an
individual campsite from the traveled roadway.” The design is less formal than others,
“approached not with a determination to produce maximum number of campsites per
acres, but instead with the triple objective of (1) suiting an irregular topography, (2)
sparing existing desirable natural features, and (3) gaining greater privacy for each
campsite.” The proposed campsite placement on the 1959 Master Plan map shows a
much more regular spacing of sites than was actually built, as flora and undulations in
the landscape allowed for additional sites to be constructed.

Concurrently, a NPS landscape design team and survey crew from the Western Office of
Design and Construction (WODC) provided the alignment and grading work for the roads
at the campground and the Avalanche Picnic Area. The next year, in 1963, WODC crews
and day labor installed new picnic tables, fireplaces and garbage cans and holders. The
picnic tables featured prefabricated steel table leg frames purchased from Kay
Enterprises and lumber tops and seats purchased locally. Crews cut the lumber to length,
drilled for bolts, rounded the edges and then weather treated the wood. The tops and
seats were then attached to the steel frames. The fireplaces were welded from pre-cut
steel material according to NPS standardized design, then placed on poured concrete
slabs. The garbage receptacles were similarly constructed using steel parts assembled on
concrete slabs.

In 1966, the San Francisco Planning and Service Center provided the plans for the most
ambitious project of the Mission 66 activities in Avalanche Campground. NPS awarded
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the construction contract to Mahnomen Pile Driving and Erection Company of East
Glacier, Montana on October 12, 1966 and construction of the Avalanche Duplex Ranger
Station and Office began in November.

Reminiscent of the St. Mary’s Visitor’s Center on the east side of the park, which was
constructed at the same time, the building featured a shallow-pitched side-gabled roof,
with wide eaves and a broad, welcoming triangular gabled porch roof extension across
the fagade. Tall banks of windows provided visitors a clear view of the rangers’ offices at
the front of the building, while smaller, wood-frame double-hung windows to the sides
and rear provided ventilation and light to the duplex quarters. Board-and-batten cedar
siding and wood shakes on the roof provided a natural harmony with the wooded
surroundings and the building’s modern design. On the interior, Formica counters, hand-
crafted cabinetry and cedar closets provided storage spaces, and living spaces featured
modern tile floors and gypsum board walls. Throughout the building, the fixtures and
appliances were carefully chosen from modern design catalogs, including chrome bath
fixtures, louvered window coverings, vinyl partition walls, and sleek, efficient electric
wall heating units. A crisp, light color palate of whites and birch completed the modern
look.

As was the intention of Mission 66 architectural design, the result was a beautiful
building that harmonized with the natural surroundings and exhibited a decidedly
contemporary feel. The project also included installation of a “Type A” standardized all
metal hose house, and an American Flagpole Equipment Company aluminum flagpole.
Outdoor concrete patios, with vertical board privacy screens, picnic tables, and
clotheslines enhance the living spaces at the rear of the building.

The duplex, along with comfort stations, campsite redesign, fire circle improvements,
and water and sewer upgrades improved facilities at Avalanche Campground under the
Mission 66 directive. By 1967, the improvements were complete, and visitors stayed at
Avalanche Campground in unprecedented numbers.
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Figure 1: Location Map
From Mount Cowan USGS Topographic Map
Key: + Indicates Location of Avalanche Duplex Ranger Station
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Figure 2: Location Map (detail)

Note: Ranger Station Duplex in upper left
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PART Il. ARCHITECTURAL INFORMATION

The Avalanche Duplex Ranger Station was constructed in 1966 to serve as an information
office at Avalanche Campground as well as seasonal housing for two park rangers. Set
back about 20 feet on the south side of the campground access road, the duplex is
located just east of Going-to-the-Sun Road.

The one-story residence/office is rectangular in plan with a central pointed office bay
covered by a front porch roof. The building rests on a concrete slab foundation and has
%-inch rough sawn red cedar plywood board-and-batten siding. The distinctive
overhanging side gable roof is tapered at the corners and is intersected by the projecting
porch roof over the office bay. The side gable roof is supported by five, four-inch by 14-
inch exposed solid wood purlins. The eave soffit is clad with three-inch by six-inch pine
boards and finished with a two-inch by eight-inch fascia board. The roof is clad with
wood shake shingles.

The central projecting porch roof is supported by three, four-inch by 14-inch exposed
solid wood purlins resting on three, six-inch by ten-inch posts. The exposed framing
members, window frames and sash are painted dark brown and the siding is clear-coated
to bring out the natural cedar color. The doors, blank panels below the front windows,
and fascia boards are painted off white. White “globe” pendant light fixtures hang from
the porch ceiling on white conduit cord above each office window.

The east elevation (facade) consists of the central information office. Each side of this
central pointed bay is divided into three panels. The right-hand panel of the north office
contains a tall metal hollow-core Dutch door. The center and left panels contain one-
over-one double hung wood sashes. The right-hand window has a small Formica
countertop at its sill. Blank plywood panels are located below each window, and above
each window/door panel is a fixed glass unit. The windows, lower panels and upper fixed
windows all have wide flat wood trim. The south office bay is slightly different and
consists of a tall blank plywood panel at the left. A cork board is fastened to the panel.
The center and right panels contain centered one-over-one double-hung wood sashes.
The right-hand window has a small Formica countertop at its sill. Blank plywood panels
are located below each window, and above each window/blank panel is a fixed glass
unit. These openings also have wide flat wood trim.

The north and south elevations are identical and consist of two, evenly spaced, paired
one-over-one double hung wood sash with wide flat wood trim and removable storm
and screened windows. On the north elevation only, there is a gas utility cabinet
attached to the lower west side of the wall. The cabinet houses the gas meter and gas
piping/distribution system, and is made of cedar panels with double doors and a shed
roof.

The west (rear) elevation consists of north, central and south entrance doors with
windows between the doors. The north and south doors are metal hollow-core doors
with wood-frame screen doors. The center utility room door is steel with a central
rectangular glass panel and a wood-frame screen door. Each door has narrow flat wood
trim and a concrete stoop with stairs below it. The north window consists of a large
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rectangular fixed sash on the left flanked by a one-over-one double-hung sash on the
right. The windows are divided by a six-inch wide mullion and have a slanted wood sill.
The south window is an identical mirror image of the north window. Both windows are
finished with narrow flat wood trim.

The interior of the duplex building is divided into an office and two identical residential
units. The residences each consist of a small L-plan kitchen, dining area, and living area
on the west, and a bedroom to the east. The center of the building consists of a utility

room on the west, bathrooms in the center, and the offices to the east. The offices are
accessible from the outside door on the facade or through interior doors located near

the bathroom in each residence.

The simple yet comfortable one-bedroom units are finished with %-inch thick gypsum
board on the walls and two-inch pine trim around the doors. Bedroom, bathroom and
closet doors are 1%-inch thick hollow-core birch. The kitchen is detailed with 9-inch
square vinyl asbestos tile and ¥%-inch birch plywood panel cabinetry.

Setting

There is a sidewalk in front of the building from which a Y-shaped asphalt walkway leads
to the duplex. The area directly in front of the office service windows is paved with
concrete slabs stamped with a diamond pattern. The grounds around the building are
shaded by mature hemlock, pine, and cedar trees. An eight-foot wide driveway extends
along the south side of the building and ends at a propane tank, screened by a chain link
fence. A concrete walkway extends the length of the rear (west elevation) of the duplex.
Behind each duplex unit are separate concrete patios with picnic tables. The patios are
screened on three sides by a vertical board wood fence. Behind or west of the fence, the
drying yard, now overgrown with vegetation, contains one steel T-post clothesline for
each duplex unit. A 20-foot tall aluminum flagpole was installed near the sidewalk
directly in front of the Avalanche Duplex Ranger Station in 1967. The halyard and truck
(at the top of the pole) are still intact, but no ball finial or ornament caps the pole.

Parking spaces line the north side of the road across from the office. From here, the road
turns slightly south and leads to the trailhead for the Trail of the Cedars. The Trail of the
Cedars follows along the north side of the campground, and Loop 1 with its
amphitheater for evening programs and lectures, the original camping “spurs” or
parking spaces, and two 1960 comfort stations.

There are three loops in the campground; each connecting at their eastern end via
connector trails leading to the Trail of the Cedars. The Trail of the Cedars parallels
Avalanche Creek, and a portion of it is located within the northernmost portion of the
Avalanche Campground Historic District.

Integrity of Avalanche Duplex Ranger Station

The Avalanche Duplex Ranger station stands in fair condition and retains a high level of
architectural integrity. A review of the “As Constructed Drawings” of the building in
1966, shows that the building design and materials have never been altered. The station
retains its original wood shake roof, massive wood rafters, cedar siding, and concrete
foundation. The windows, doors, trim, light fixtures and details such as door hinges,
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window screens, and cork billboard specified in the original working drawings also
remain unchanged. The paint colors are the only change. Problems with the building
include the deteriorated wood shakes, isolated areas of peeling paint, and moss covered
concrete elements. Roof leaks have damaged some interior finishes. In addition, all of
the interior finishes specified in the working drawings, such as kitchen cabinets, flooring,
doors, trim, and wall finishes are unaltered and in good condition. Overall the building
retains the highest level of integrity given that its location, design, setting, feeling,
associations, materials, and workmanship have clearly never been altered and represent
an outstanding example of the National Park Service’s Mission 66 design initiative, which
generally rejected the previous rustic style in favor of modern materials, technologies,
and design principles.

Future of the Avalanche Duplex Ranger Station

Glacier National Park is proposing to demolish the Avalanche Duplex Ranger Station and
Hose House and Hydrant in the Avalanche Campground Historic District. Park rangers
are no longer stationed at this area and campground hosts now provide camper
information. The park has identified no uses for the building, and as a result, it has been
vacant for a number of years and is deteriorating from a leaking roof and lack of
maintenance.

A determination of eligibility (DOE) for listing in the National Register of Historic Places
was prepared for the Avalanche Creek Historic District 24FH1210 in 2010 and on February
9, 2011 the district, comprised of 12 contributing resources and one noncontributing
resource associated with the campground, was determined eligible for listing. The
contributing resources include the Avalanche Duplex Ranger Station, a Hose House and
hydrant, the Fire Cache Building, three campground loops (1, 2 and 3), and six comfort
stations. The Avalanche Duplex Ranger Station was found to be a contributing resource
of the Historic District. Demolition of the ranger station will have an adverse effect on
the historic district.

In accordance with Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended,
the park consulted with the Montana State Historic Preservation Office (SHPO) to seek
ways to avoid, minimize or mitigate the adverse effect. The park and the SHPO have
reached a preliminary agreement upon a Memorandum of Agreement to mitigate the
adverse effect. The park has agreed, among other things, to record the ranger station to
the Standards of the Historic American Buildings Survey. This historical narrative and
accompanying photographs are the products of the HABS recordation.

The park plans to prepare an Environmental Assessment to meet the requirement of the
National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) and finalize Section 106 of the National
Historic Preservation Act responsibilities.
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ENDNOTES

! Historical context and architectural description for this HABS document is drawn from the
Determination of Eligibility for the Avalanche Campground Historic District prepared by
Montana

Preservation Alliance, Helena, Montana for Glacier National Park, 2010.

* As quoted in Ravage, p. 6, from William S. Wicks, Log Cabins and Cottages. How to Build and
Furnish Them (New York: Forest and Stream, 1920): 8. The first edition came out in the
1880s; 1920’s edition appears to be identical. Gibbs Smith of Layton, Utah, published a
facsimile edition in 1999.

3 The contextual history and information for this section is taken from the Going-to-the-Sun
Road, Glacier National Park National Historic Landmark Nomination, 1999.

* william R. Logan, “Superintendent’s Annual Report for Glacier National Park,” on file at the
Glacier National Park [GLAC] Archives, West Glacier, Montana, 1912.

> William R. Logan, “Superintendent’s Annual Report for Glacier National Park,” on file at the
Glacier National Park [GLAC] Archives, West Glacier, Montana, 1911.

® william R. Logan, “Superintendent’s Annual Report for Glacier National Park,” on file at the
Glacier National Park [GLAC] Archives, West Glacier, Montana, 1912; James L. Galen,
“Superintendent’s Annual Report for Glacier National Park,” GLAC Archives, West Glacier,
Montana, 1913; Samuel F. Ralston, “Superintendent’s Annual Report for Glacier National
Park,” GLAC Archives, West Glacier, Montana, 1915.

7 ). Ross Eakin, “Superintendent’s Annual Report for Glacier National Park,” GLAC Archives,
West Glacier, Montana, 1921.

® J. Ross Eakin, “Superintendent’s Annual Report, Glacier National Park,” GLAC Archives,
West Glacier, Montana, 1929.

% Albert H. Good, Park Recreation and Structures, Part lll: Overnight and Organized Camp
Facilities, (Washington, D.C.: USDI, NPS, 1938), p. 5.

'° Plant pathologist Emilio P. Meinecke shaped campground policy at the Forest Service and
the National Park Service through reports issued in 1928 and his 1932 A Camp Ground Policy,
which directed park managers to select and design campgrounds around soil conditions,
length of seasonal use, and the type and density of vegetation. Attention was paid to the
different types of campers - their use of cars, trailers, and tents, and management of
campground sites in a studied and organized manner. Emilio P. Meinecke’s work impacted
the design and use of public lands throughout the country. For an in-depth discussion, see
McClelland, Building the National Parks, pp. 276-285.

"' Good, Park Overnight and Organized Camp Facilities, Part lll, p. 5. Ohio architect and
consultant Albert H. Good wrote several architectural guide books for the National Park
Service in the 1930s, and described the design concept:
Basic in this campsite concept is a short parking spur, taking off from a one-way road
as areadily negotiable angle, and bounded by naturalized barriers defining the
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parking space and confining the camper’s automobile therein. Supplementing
principle is a logical grouping of tent site, picnic table, and fireplace in suitable
relation to the parked automobile, existing tree growth, and prevailing winds. Finally,
a screening of undergrowth around the fringe, to limit and give desirable privacy to
the campsite, completes the picture.”

» Good, Park and Recreation Structures, Part I: Administration and Basic Service Facilities,
(Washington, D.C.: USDI, NPS, 1938), p. 5.

B “Annual Superintendent’s Report, 1993,” GLAC Archives, West Glacier, Montana.

'* Sarah Allaback, Mission 66 Visitor Centers: The History of a Building Type, (Washington,
D.C.: National Park Service, 2000), p. 3.
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PART IIl. SOURCES OF INFORMATION

ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS

Scanned images of the original construction drawings for Avalanche Campground
are not copyrighted. The original drawings are housed in the Glacier National Park
Archives, West Glacier, Montana.
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